

# FOOTHILLS PRESBYTERY

## MISSION AND STRUCTURE

### **MISSION**

The identity, mission and ministry of Foothills Presbytery is rooted in the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (USA):

1. G-3.03 "The presbytery is responsible for the government of the church throughout its district, and for assisting and supporting the witness of the congregations to the sovereign activity of God in the world, so that all congregations become communities of faith, hope, love and witness. As it leads and guides the witness of its congregations, the presbytery shall keep before it the marks of the Church (F-1.0302), the notes by which Presbyterian and Reformed communities have identified themselves through history (F-1.0303) and the six Great Ends of the Church (F-10304)."

In light of this charge, the presbytery has responsibility over Ecclesial ministry and the power to:

- a. Provide that the Word of God may be truly preached and heard;
- b. Nurture the covenant community of disciples of Christ;
- c. Provide that the Sacraments may be rightly administered and received.
2. G-2.0201 Diaconal ministry "as set forth in Scripture is one of compassion, witness, and service sharing the redeeming love of Jesus Christ for the poor, the hungry, the sick, the lost, the friendless, the oppressed, those burdened by unjust policies or structures or anyone in distress."

As the Council of the Presbyterian Church in the United States of America for the congregations in the six Upstate Counties in South Carolina, by the Grace of God we gather to joyfully celebrate this Calling.

### **MANUAL OF FOOTILLS PRESBYTERY**

#### **I. NAME AND AUTHORITY**

This section of the Body of Christ shall be called Foothills Presbytery of the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.). It shall consist of all the Teaching Ministry and Presbyterian (U.S.A.) churches in six (6) counties: Anderson, Cherokee, Greenville, Oconee, Pickens, and Spartanburg.

Foothills Presbytery is a member of the Synod of the South Atlantic and has the duties and powers specified by the Book of Order.

Foothills Presbytery shall be incorporated as an Eleemosynary Corporation with by-laws according to the laws of the State of South Carolina.

## **II. CONSTITUTION**

The Constitution of Foothills Presbytery is the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.), and the Standing Rules for its organization and government shall always be subject to the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.)

## **III. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATING PROCEDURES**

### **A. MEETINGS**

Presbytery shall ordinarily hold at least **three** stated meetings each year. Unless the Council varies its procedure for special reasons, these meetings are to be held on the following days: the third Tuesday of February, **the third Saturday of May**, and the second Tuesday of November (unless it is election day, then the **first** Tuesday.) Unless Presbytery decides otherwise in advance meeting shall convene at **10:00 a.m.**, take recess for lunch, and continue in session for an appropriate period after that meal when needed. The Tuesday meetings will usually consist of four elements: worship, business, fellowship (meal) and mission program. A moderator and a moderator-in-nomination shall be elected for a one year term. The term for the moderator will begin with **the second meeting in the calendar year**. The moderator shall preside at all stated or called meetings during the term of office. The moderator-in-nomination shall be the substitute when the current moderator is unable to attend.

### **B. BASIS AND PLACES OF MEETINGS**

Invitations for meetings shall be received by Council.

### **C. DOCKET FOR MEETINGS**

The docket for each meeting shall be prepared by Presbytery's Coordinating Council in consultation with the Stated Clerk. Copies of the docket shall be made available electronically at least two weeks before each meeting to all ministers, clerks of sessions, and others as requested. All meetings shall be opened with prayer. Normally there shall be a worship service during each meeting. The Worship Committee shall plan the services. The Sacrament of the Lord's Supper shall usually be celebrated at the November meeting. Memorials to ministers and a list of ruling elders who have died in the preceding twelve months shall be read before the Communion Service.

In order to ensure fairness and access to all necessary information, any new business to be dealt with at a Presbytery meeting shall be introduced at the place assigned for new business and allocated an appropriate time on the Presbytery docket. Unless Council recommends otherwise, at least a portion of the meeting shall be reserved for an educational or inspirational program,

with special emphasis given to theological and social issues, or to the missionary, evangelistic, and teaching tasks of the church.

#### **D. RULES OF PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE**

The rules that shall govern all the transactions of business in all meetings of Presbytery shall be those found in the latest edition of Roberts Rules of Order. The Stated Clerk and Parliamentarian will have a copy on hand.

#### **E. MEMBERSHIP**

All Teaching Elders **who are members of the Presbytery and the Ruling Elder commissioners elected by their sessions comprise the voting membership of the body.** For continuity and knowledge, all church sessions are encouraged to select their commissioners to attend stated and other meetings of Presbytery for a period of one year. Alternates should also be named. Other ruling elders should be encouraged to attend meetings of Presbytery as visitors and observers.

Signed registration forms shall indicate attendance of members of Presbytery. The appropriate forms shall be made available by the Stated Clerk.

The act of proper registration by a ruling elder is construed as that person's declaration that he or she is a person duly elected by his or her session as a commissioner to this meeting of Presbytery.

Teaching Elders and Ruling Elders are expected to arrive promptly at the announced hour for the convening of Presbytery and to remain throughout the meeting until adjournment unless specifically excused. Those who cannot attend or must be excused early shall send in writing prior to the meeting their reasons for absence or for being excused early. Repeated failure in the matter of attendance by ministers shall be reported to the Committee on Ministry as shall like failure of a congregation to send a commissioner. Normally no minister shall be excused from all the meetings of Presbytery in any one calendar year.

Regarding the issues of parity, Foothills Presbytery:

1. Will count all resident teaching elders in validated ministries, including parish ministry, chaplaincy, specialized ministry, etc. (Book of Order G-3.0306),
2. Will count resident retired teaching elders who attended at least one Presbytery meeting during the previous year,
3. Will give voice to Certified Christian Educators, **and in the case of Certified Christian Educators who are ruling elders the privilege of voice and vote, at all its meetings.** (G-2.1103b)
4. Will grant Commissioned Ruling Elders the privilege of voice, **and in the case of those moderating session a voice and vote, at all its meetings.**

Foothills Presbytery invites ruling elders in the following categories to be commissioners to all meetings of Presbytery: (a) officers of the Presbytery, (b) chairpersons of commissions and committees, (c) members of Presbytery Council, (d) Stated Clerk and Presbytery Pastor, and Associate Stated Clerk and Presbytery Pastor.

Further, that these ruling elder commissioners be included in the consideration of parity.

**F. THE OFFICERS OF PRESBYTERY:**

1. The Moderator
2. The Moderator-in-Nomination
3. The Stated Clerk
4. The Associate Stated Clerk
5. The Treasurer
6. The Parliamentarian
7. The Recording Clerk
8. The Assistant Recording Clerk

**G. PRESBYTERY ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF:**

1. Office Administrator and Bookkeeper
2. Communications Coordinator and Assistant Office Administrator

The Stated Clerk, the Associate Stated Clerk and the Parliamentarian shall be elected to three-year terms at the November meeting of Presbytery. The Treasurer, the Recording Clerk and the Associate Recording Clerk shall be elected to one-year terms at the November meeting of Presbytery.

#### **IV. STRUCTURE**

**A. Foothills Coordinating Council (FCC):** Council serves to oversee, coordinate and review all commissions, committees and work groups in Foothills Presbytery. The FCC is composed of the FCC Chair, the Presbytery Moderator and the Moderator-elect, and the Chairs of the following committees:

The Ecclesial Committees

- Worship
- Committee on Ministry
- Committee on Preparation for Ministry
- Bills and Overtures
- Representation and Review
- Finance and Stewardship
- Personnel
- Nominations

The Diaconal Committees

- Committee on Shared Ministry
- Racial Ethnic Cabinet

Ex Officio Members: The Stated Clerk, The Associate Stated Clerk, the Treasurer, and the Parliamentarian.

**B. The Permanent Judicial Commission(PJC)** *Note description on page 14*

## **COMMITTEES & COMMISSIONS**

### **I. ECCLESIAL MISSION**

*In its Ecclesial Mission the Committees and Commissions of Foothills Presbytery will seek to encourage, promote and sustain congregational health and vitality.*

#### **A. Coordinating Council**

Composition: Chair of Council, Moderator of Presbytery, Moderator-in-Nomination of Presbytery (3); and the Moderators of the Ecclesial and Diaconal Committees of Presbytery: Worship, Committee on Ministry, Committee on Preparation for Ministry, Bills and Overtures, Representation and Review, Finance and Stewardship, Personnel, Nominations, Committee on Shared Ministry, and the Racial Ethnic Cabinet (10). The Stated Clerk, the Associate Stated Clerk, the Treasurer and the Parliamentarian shall be Ex-Officio members (4). [Total: 17 members] A quorum for a meeting shall consist of at least seven members and either the Stated or Associate Stated Clerk.

*The Coordinating Council coordinates the meetings of Presbytery, and acts as instructed by Presbytery between meetings. It provides for communication among the committees and commissions of Presbytery and interprets their work to the Presbytery. The Coordinating Council functions as the Corporate Board of the Presbytery. By virtue of their election to Council, Council members are also elected to the Corporate Board. The Chair of Council serves as Chair of the Corporate Board. Per South Carolina State Law, the Coordinating Council designates the Stated Clerk, or upon his or her absence, the Associate Stated Clerk as "the Agent" of Foothills Presbytery. All Ruling Elder Committee Chairs are Commissioners to Presbytery during their terms of service (G-3.0301).*

Council Responsibilities:

1. Provide for the worship of Presbytery.
2. Set the agenda of Presbytery meetings and make arrangements for Presbytery meetings.
3. Interpret and communicate the budget of Presbytery.
4. Facilitate communications among the commissions, and committees of the Presbytery and from the commissions and committees to the Presbytery.
5. Ensure a fair and clear decision-making process that is consistent with the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (USA).
6. Encourage maximum participation in Presbytery meetings.
7. Act on behalf of Presbytery between meetings as Presbytery deems appropriate and as instructed by Presbytery.
8. Make editorial changes to Presbytery's manual which do not materially change its intent and interpretation.
9. Act on Presbytery's behalf to approve requests from congregations to buy, sell or encumber property.
10. Function as the corporate board of Foothills Presbytery, Inc. with the authority to acquire property for Presbytery and to hold the same at the direction of

Presbytery.

11. When the Presbytery shall purchase property and make deferred payments, the Council shall have the authority to execute a security deed to secure any unpaid balance of the purchase money and to execute all necessary papers in connection with such transaction.
12. Through the Personnel Committee oversee the operations of the Presbytery staff, the Treasurer, the Parliamentarian, and the Recording Clerk and the Assistant Recording Clerk.

## **B. Worship Committee**

The Foothills Presbytery Worship Committee exists to plan services of worship for Presbytery meetings to motivate the people in the pews to earnest praise of God. The committee attempts to design services that are sensitive to the business of Presbytery, the architecture and traditions of the local church or venue housing the meeting, and the musical gifts and styles of the community. The committee also attempts to put before the presbytery solid worship leaders of all stripes, hometowns, ages, and inspiring music of many styles and origins. Ideas are welcome and one does not need to be a member of this committee to suggest them.

**Organization:**

- The committee is a sub-committee of the Coordinating Council and the Chair will serve as the committee's representative on the Council.
- The committee will ideally consist of at least seven members, representing the diversity of the presbytery.
- The committee generally meets around six times a year depending on need.
- The committee will develop a theme for each worship service, provide appropriate leadership and/or coordinate with the host venue to make sure all aspects of worship are planned for and staffed.

## **C. Committee on Ministry (COM)**

Composition: 22 persons elected by Foothills Presbytery. *Ex-officio:* the Stated Clerk and the Associate Stated Clerk.

*The Committee on Ministry is Foothills Presbytery's committee to "develop and maintain mechanisms and processes to serve as pastor and counselor to teaching elders, ruling elders commissioned to pastoral service, and certified Christian educators of the presbytery; to facilitate relations between presbytery and its congregations, teaching elders, ruling elders commissioned to pastoral service, and certified Christian educators; and to settle difficulties on behalf of the presbytery where possible and expedient." (G-3.0307)*

**Responsibilities:**

1. Counsel with congregations, sessions and teaching elders in a manner consistent with the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.) regarding congregational relationships as outlined in G-3.0301 and G-3.0303.
  - a) Visit with each session of the Presbytery at least once every three years.

- b) Promote the peace and harmony of the churches of the presbytery, especially in regard to matters arising out of the relations between teaching elders and churches, seeking to mediate and reconcile those involved.
- c) Follow procedures outlined in G-3.0303d(1-3) as it counsels with churches within which there may be difficulties.
- d) Make recommendations to presbytery concerning the location of new congregations and congregations desiring to move. (G-3.0303b)
- e) Make recommendations to presbytery concerning congregations which are to be divided, dismissed or dissolved in consultation with their members. (G-30303b)

2. Counsel with congregations, sessions and teaching elders in a manner consistent with the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (USA) regarding pastoral relationships as outlined in G-2.0504.

- a) On behalf of presbytery, approve all changes in terms of calls for pastors, co-pastors and associate pastors serving in installed pastoral relationships. These changes shall be reported to the presbytery (G-2.0504a)
- b) On behalf of presbytery, approve the terms of all temporary pastoral relationships. Such temporary pastoral relationships may be full time or part time, and are established by the session or commission of the presbytery with the approval of the presbytery through its Committee on Ministry. A temporary pastor is not installed and is not a member of the Session and therefore has no vote. (G-3.0102)
- c) Make recommendations to presbytery concerning exceptions allowed in G-2.0504c.
- d) Select Committee on Ministry members to serve on presbytery's Examinations with special attention to parity between Teaching and Ruling Elders.
- e) Make recommendations to presbytery concerning designated pastor relationships. (See guidelines in appendix).

3. Counsel with congregations, sessions and teaching elders in a manner consistent with the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (USA) regarding relationships between sessions and certified Christian Educators. (GH-2.1103)

- a) Include interviews with certified Christian Educators in all formal visits and work with congregations, especially in those situations in which the head of staff position has become vacant.
- b) Encourage educators to seek certification, provide guidance through the Educator Certification advisor, and encourage sessions to make continuing education funds and time available to educators seeking certification.
- c) Provide support to certified Christian Educators through a service of recognition and establishing compensation and benefit standards.
- d) Serve as pastor and counselor to certified Christian Educators, including support and mediation in conflict situations.

4. Work with Commissioned Ruling Elders in a manner consistent with the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.).

- a) Supervise and approve training of ruling elders preparing to be commissioned to pastoral service.
- b) Approve commissions of Commissioned Ruling Elders and authorize functions that they are to perform in accordance with G-2.10.

- c) Assign a Teaching Elder as a mentor and supervisor (G-2.1004) and when necessary consult with the **Examinations Commission** concerning continuing education of Commissioned Ruling Elders.

5. Work with other presbytery committees and subcommittees as needed.

6. Continually look for ways to think creatively about the areas of responsibility assigned to the committee and when appropriate recommend and implement such changes within the structure of the Presbytery.

7. Work as a Commission on Ministry for the following:

- a) When the Committee on Ministry needs a subcommittee to be a Commission for Special Inquiry to investigate matters of potential ethics violations or personal concerns of Teaching Elders and Commissioned Ruling Elders that impact their role and function
- b) The actions of a Commission of Special Inquiry may require referral to the Rules of Discipline but efforts will be made to follow the guidelines of D-1.0103 to avoid formal proceedings under the Rules of Discipline. Usually this commission would be formed when expedient action is required for the health of the minister or congregation in order that that ministry of Jesus Christ will not be harmed.
- c) Administrative Responsibilities of the Committee on Ministry:
  - 1) To approve and remove teaching elders from Temporary Positions
  - 2) To approve teaching elders serving in Validated Ministries permission to celebrate the sacraments
  - 3) To approve the sermons of Ruling Elders Commissioned to Pastoral Service
- d) Make recommendations to presbytery concerning the appointment of administrative commissions in those situations where it has determined that such action is necessary, as outlined in G-3.0303e.

The Examination Commission, The Sexual Ethics, Child, Youth and Vulnerable Adult Committee, and The Small Church Working Group report to The Committee on Ministry.

## 1. Examinations Commission

Composition: 12 persons (including chair and vice chair), typically with no more than one person serving from a particular church. Members will reflect the diversity of Foothills Presbytery. Five members will be selected by the COM from the COM. Two members (1 teaching elder, 1 ruling elder) will be selected by and from the **Bills and Overtures Committee**. Two members (1 teaching elder, 1 ruling elder) will be selected by and from **the Committee on Shared Ministry**. Members from the COM, Bills and Overtures Committee and Committee on Shared Ministry will serve a one-year term, renewable up to six years total. The remaining three members will be nominated by the Nominating Committee of Presbytery and elected by Presbytery as at-large members, comprised of three classes of one person elected to a three-year term.

The Examinations Commission shall maintain an active list of those who have served on the Commission in the 10 previous years. In circumstances where the duly chosen and elected

members cannot be gathered in such numbers to have a quorum (6 members), then the Chair and/ or the Vice Chair will choose persons from that list to assure a quorum.

*The Examinations Commission of Foothills Presbytery is elected by the presbytery to examine candidates and ministers (G-3.0306) who are seeking membership in the Presbytery, and elders seeking to serve as commissioned ruling elders (G-2.1002).*

**Responsibilities:**

- a. All ministers, candidates and commissioned ruling elders shall be examined in the areas of their Call to ministry, Bible, theology, sacraments and church polity. For their first commissioning Commissioned Ruling Elders will preach before the Commissioned Ruling Elder subcommittee of the Committee on Ministry per their Manual of Operations. Candidates for Ministry will usually preach before the Commission on a text chosen by the Commission. The Commission may choose to have the Candidates preach either in a member congregation of Foothills Presbytery during regular Sunday worship or on the Floor of a meeting of Presbytery.
- b. Examine and take action on previously ordained pastors transferring into Foothills Presbytery, and report this action to the Presbytery. Approve Terms of Call and approve Installation Commissions. In conjunction with the Committee on Ministry approve Validated Ministers to serve the sacraments with those whom they minister. The Committee on Ministry will oversee the service of the sacraments.
- c. Examine Candidates for ordination and Commissioned Ruling Elders, and make recommendations concerning the candidate's or Commissioned Ruling Elder's examination on the floor of Presbytery. In the event of a questionable examination, the Examinations Commission will refer the candidate or Commissioned Ruling Elder to the Committee on Ministry for determination of the call. Approve Candidates moving onto the field.  
In every case introduce Pastors, Candidates or Commissioned Ruling to the floor of presbytery for the opportunity of dialogue.
- d. Appoint mentors for all newly Ordained Teaching Elders and consult with transferring members regarding their need/ desire for a mentor.

**2. Sexual Ethics Committee: Child, Youth and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policies**

Composition: 6 persons elected by Foothills Presbytery.

*The Sexual Ethics and Child Protection Committee shall work with other entities of the Presbytery in dealing with matters regarding sexual ethics and misconduct and child protection.*

**Responsibilities:**

- a. Train committee members in issues regarding sexual ethics and misconduct.
- b. Recommend changes in the Foothills Presbytery Policy and Procedures on Sexual Misconduct, Appendix II, to the Presbytery that are consistent with G-3.0106.
- c. Train and form care teams as outlined in the Foothills Presbytery Policy and Procedures on Sexual Misconduct.
- d. Ensure that teaching elders serving in validated ministries in Foothills Presbytery acknowledge receipt of the Foothills Presbytery Policy and Procedures on Sexual

Misconduct.

e. In partnership with the Committee on Shared Mission provide continuing education on sexual ethics and misconduct for teaching elders, educators, church professionals, congregations and sessions.

- 1) Recommend changes in the Foothills Child Protection Policy that are consistent with G-3.0106.
- 2) Assist congregations and Sessions with developing and maintaining congregational Child Protection Policies.
- 3) Assist presbytery and congregations in promoting best practices regarding child safety.

### **3. Small Church Working Group**

The Small Church Working Group is a mission and ministry support group for Foothills Presbytery. The Small Church Working Group Leaders usually meet four times a year to plan programs to support the unique ministries of the smaller membership churches in Foothills Presbytery.

### **D. Committee on Preparation for Ministry (CPM)**

Composition: The CPM shall be composed of Teaching Elders and Ruling Elders in approximately equal number, bearing in mind the principles of unity in diversity in F-1.0403.

The purpose of the Committee on Preparation for Ministry is to help all church members discern and fulfill their Christian vocation and to provide the best possible leadership for the church by assuring that persons who feel called to be Teaching Elders (Ministers of the Word and Sacrament) receive the fullest personal and professional preparation for this office.

Our goals are to facilitate the care process for pre-inquirers, inquirers and candidates in the most caring and efficient manner possible, to be sensitive to the many issues confronting persons under care, and to provide continuity of service to members of the commission and those under care.

Note: The CPM also serves as a commission and is responsible for following the designated processes associated with pre-inquirers, inquirers and candidates. "The Book of Order of the Presbyterian Church (USA) is the authority by which the Committee on Preparation for Ministry may act as a Commission to fulfill its constitutional functions. All requirements and procedures of the current Book of Order must be followed in the Inquiry and Candidacy process (G-2.06)"

Particular to Foothills Presbytery's policy and procedure are:

- On behalf of Presbytery, CPM will act as a commission by interviewing individuals recommended by their Sessions for inquiry and decide whether to enroll them as inquirers, reporting the Committee's action at the next stated meeting of presbytery
- Instruct and train Sessions on their role in inquiry and the candidacy process.
- Make recommendation to the presbytery through the Stated Clerk with respect to inquirers' applications for candidacy.
- Provide oversight of inquirers and candidates in matters relating to the preparation for ministry.

- Make decisions regarding applications for financial aid.
- Provide for annual consultations with each inquirer and candidate. Report to the Presbytery on annual consultations. (G-2.0604)
- Recommend an inquirer's move to candidacy and arrange for them to share their faith statement, faith journey and sense of Call to a meeting of presbytery. Questions posed from commissioners may only include questions about inquirer's statement of faith, faith journey, Christian service and Call. Note: Statement of faith must be in writing.
- Conduct final assessments of candidates' readiness for ministry. Report candidate's readiness to Presbytery. (G-2.0607)
- **On behalf of Presbytery, the CPM will act as a commission and make decisions concerning the transfer and removal from covenant relationship of inquirer under its care.**
- In case of candidate, make recommendation to the presbytery concerning the transfer and removal from covenant relationship of candidates under its care. (G-2.0608 and G-2.0609)

All actions carried out as a result of delegated authority must be reported to the presbytery at its next regular meeting." Book of Order G-3.0307

## **E. Bills and Overtures Committee**

Composition: 9 members elected by Foothills Presbytery.

*The Bills and Overtures Committee receives all overtures and amendments which have been referred to Presbytery and provides advice to the Presbytery regarding the action on such overtures and amendments.*

### Responsibilities:

1. Provide regular opportunities for theological conversation and for the discussion of difficult and timely issues that may come before the Presbytery and the larger church
2. Receive all overtures and Constitutional Amendments which have been referred to Presbytery and provide advice to the Presbytery regarding action on such overtures. Presbytery shall vote on all such overtures and amendments to the Constitution.
3. Voting on Amendments to the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (USA) shall be done by secret ballot and the committee in cooperation with the Stated Clerk and the Coordinating Council will assure this is done in an effective way.
4. Select a Ruling Elder and Teaching Elder member to serve on Presbytery's Examinations Commission.

## **F. Representation and Review Committee**

The Representation and Review Committee advises Presbytery with respect to its membership and of its bodies by making sure the principles of participation and inclusiveness are met (see G-30103), and in addition is responsible for the review and control of Sessions and congregations.

### Responsibilities:

1. Advocate for the inclusion of racial ethnic members, women, different age groups and persons with disabilities in the life and leadership of Presbytery.  
(see F-1.0403)

2. Review the performance of the Presbytery in matters pertaining to representation and inclusiveness and reports findings annually. (see G-3.0103)
3. Make recommendations to Presbytery for corrective action which may be necessary to enhance inclusiveness and fair representation.
4. Consult with the Nominating Committee of Presbytery concerning inclusiveness and representation. A member of R&R will attend meetings of the Nominations Committee.
5. Encourage listening and mutual sharing through the annual required review of Session minutes. Communicate information of concern and interest to the Committee on Ministry. (see G-3.0108)
6. To annually review and evaluate Session Minutes. (see G-3.0108a)
7. To provide ongoing training regarding Minutes and Record Keeping for Sessions and Clerks of Session.
8. Report to Presbytery directly.

## **G. Finance and Stewardship Committee**

Composition: 9 persons elected by Foothills Presbytery. (The Committee will be chosen by expertise in Finance and Stewardship. At least one member will be selected from each of the three Regional Gatherings of Presbytery.)

*The Finance and Stewardship Committee provides financial planning and fiscal oversight for the Presbytery. It promotes stewardship in the congregations of the Presbytery and interprets the budgets of Presbytery, Synod and General Assembly.*

### **Responsibilities:**

1. Receive budget information and requests from the committees and commissions of Presbytery.
2. Oversee budget process; form an annual budget to submit to Council for consideration, interpretation, and communication to Presbytery.
3. **Oversee the finances and report regularly to Presbytery.**
4. Oversee the investments of Presbytery.
5. Ensure that an annual independent audit is performed and reported to the team and the Presbytery.
6. Encourage stewardship in the congregations of the Presbytery through training and education. **Develop guidelines for the three Regional Gatherings to foster responsible Stewardship and Financial Principles (Best Practices) which will be implemented within the Regional Gatherings.**
7. Encourage sessions to make budgeted benevolent allocations for the work of Presbytery, Synod and General Assembly causes.
8. Recommend approval and promotion of special offerings as authorized by the Presbytery, Synod and General Assembly.
9. Recommend scheduling and approval of capital funds campaigns to the Presbytery.

## **H. Personnel Committee**

Composition: 6 persons elected by Foothills Presbytery: three Ruling Elders and three teaching Elders. (At least one person should be nominated from each of the three Regional Gatherings of Presbytery.)

### Responsibilities:

1. Define the process and review the annual evaluations of Presbytery staff.
2. Conduct the reviews of the Presbytery Leader/ Stated Clerk
3. Make recommendations for action to the Council concerning compensation of Presbytery staff.
4. Enforce the policies in the Presbytery's Personnel Manual
5. Annually prepare and propose a budget for the Personnel related expenses
6. Administer the Personnel Committee budget
7. Record minutes of all meetings and maintain accurate record of the work of the Personnel Committee, which shall be filed in the Presbytery office.

## **I. Nominations**

Composition: 9 persons elected by Foothills Presbytery: six Ruling Elders and three Teaching Elders. (At least one person should be nominated from each of the three Regional Gatherings of Presbytery.) A member of the Representation and Review Committee will be an ex-officio member and attend all meetings.

*The Nominating Committee nominates persons to fill all vacancies on continuing committees, councils, boards, and other bodies that require election by the presbytery. (G-3.0111)*

### Responsibilities:

1. Paying attention to:
  - a) The nomination of equal numbers of women and men,
  - b) Implementation of the *Book of Order's* principles of inclusiveness in G-3.0103 (in consultation with presbytery's Committee on Representation and Review),
  - c) Consultation with chairpersons of teams and committees concerning committee members who might be inactive and/or suggestions for new persons who might serve, this committee will nominate persons to serve in the following capacities:
    - As officers of presbytery, including the moderator of the Coordinating Council
    - Members for all committees and their chairpersons
    - Commissioners to the General Assembly, following the procedures adopted by presbytery and outlined in the Presbytery Manual, Appendix V.2.6.
    - Commissioners to Synod
    - Members of boards of institutions supported by the presbytery, synod, and General Assembly.
2. This committee will nominate persons for General Assembly committees and agencies as required.

## **II. PERMANENT JUDICIAL COMMISSION**

Composition: 8 persons elected by Foothills Presbytery as required in D-5.0000 of the Rules of Discipline of the *Constitution* of the Presbyterian Church (USA).

*The Permanent Judicial Commission addresses all matters referred to it which are related to judicial process as required in the Rules of Discipline of the Constitution of the Presbyterian Church (USA). It reports directly to the Presbytery.*

**Responsibilities:**

1. Hear remedial cases and appeals which are under its jurisdiction. (See D-6.000-D-8.000)
2. Hear disciplinary cases which are under its jurisdiction. (See D-9.000-D.13.000)
3. Act on requests for reference which are under its jurisdiction. (See D-4.000)
4. Act on any other matters related to judicial process as required by the *Constitution* of the Presbyterian Church (USA).

### **III. DIACONAL MISSION**

*In its Diaconal Mission the committees and regional diaconal groups will seek to encourage, promote and sustain effective and faithful shared works of compassion, learning and care in and between congregations and between the Church and the world.*

#### **A. Committee on Shared Ministry (CSM)**

**Composition:** CSM shall be composed of 22-24 Teaching Elders, Ruling Elders and Christian Educators in approximately equal number, bearing in mind the principles of unity in diversity in F-1.0403.

**Mission:** To equip, connect, and nurture the churches of Foothills Presbytery.

**Core Values:** We will celebrate an adaptive environment where grace abounds while striving to strengthen our connectional church and share mission in a spirit of experimentation.

**How:** We will explore our mission by offering opportunities for faith formation, gatherings, fellowship, service, encouragement, resources, and support.

This may include organizing around such ministries as:

- Leadership Development
- Mission Outreach
- Pastoral Support and Peer Groups
- Technology and Communication
- Hospitality
- Curriculum and Resources
- Outdoor Ministry
- Presbytery Youth Council
- Campus Ministry
- Safe Place
- Presbyterian Women
- Regional Connectors

The following support and peer groups report to the Committee on Shared Ministry:

- The Youth Leaders Roundtable
- The Children's Ministry Roundtable
- Regional Minister Gatherings
- Women Clergy Gatherings

## **B. Racial Ethnic Cabinet**

Composition: Two representatives from each racial ethnic congregation; Any racial ethnic teaching elders, commissioned ruling elders and educators presently serving within the Presbytery. Approximately 21 persons.

*The Racial Ethnic Cabinet serves as an advocate and interpreter for racial ethnic opportunities and concerns to the Presbytery.*

**Responsibilities:**

1. Advocate for the mission and witness of racial ethnic churches within the Presbytery.
2. Support the development of a broad base of potential lay leadership for Presbytery from within racial ethnic congregations.
3. Consult with the Committee on Representation and Nominating Committee concerning representation within Presbytery structures and leadership.
4. Provide an opportunity for networking and fellowship among racial ethnic congregations.
5. Advocate for financial support of ministries within the racial ethnic community and churches.
6. Address and offer effective witness regarding race relations, peacemaking, human suffering and other pressing issues within society that affect the racial ethnic community.

## APPENDIX I

### DEFINITION OF TERMS

The designations, committee and commissions, are employed in conformity with the definitions given in the Book of Order.

#### Standing Committee:

A Standing Committee is one appointed by the Moderator of the Presbytery who shall name its Chair. Its members shall serve during one stated meeting unless otherwise directed.

#### Ad Hoc Committee:

Presbytery may elect or may direct the Moderator to appoint an Ad Hoc Committee to examine any question. This Ad Interim Committee shall make its report and recommendations at the following stated meeting, or at a designated meeting of Presbytery. It shall be discharged when the report is received and acted upon by Presbytery, unless that body orders otherwise. The convenor of the committee shall be appointed by the Moderator, and the committee shall organize itself.

#### Ex-Officio Member:

An ex-officio member of any committee shall be a person who holds membership in it by virtue of his or her office. Ex-officio members have full privileges in the committee, except that of voting.

#### Task Force:

A task force is not a part of the permanent structure of Presbytery, but is a group enlisted to serve for a definite period of time and for the purpose of making some special study or of rendering some specific service, or of both. When the particular assignment given a task force is completed, the group shall be dissolved with appreciation expressed.

If the duties and responsibilities of a task force extend over more than the twelve months, there shall be a careful review of its work.

#### By-Laws of Foothills Presbytery

Foothills Presbytery, of the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.), is a Council of the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.), governed by the Book of Order of said Church and having the authority and the duties and responsibilities of such as the Book of Order shall from time to time vest in and impose upon it.

The membership of the Presbytery and representation at its meetings, the holding of meetings and the giving of notices thereof, the determination of a quorum, the keeping and transmittal of minutes, and the designation and selection of essential officers are prescribed by the Book of Order. Having authority under the Book of Order, as a governing body of the Church to "establish rules for" its government "agreeable to the doctrines related thereto in the Scriptures," Foothills Presbytery adopts the following by-laws:

1. In the event of inconsistency between these by-laws and the Book of Order, the Book of Order shall prevail.
2. This Presbytery shall be chartered in perpetuity as an eleemosynary corporation under the Laws of South Carolina. It shall adopt a seal, to be kept by its Stated Clerk and impressed as required.
2. The property of the Presbytery, both real and personal, shall be owned and held by it in its corporate name.
3. The real property of the Presbytery and the permanent special funds entrusted to it for the furtherance of its purposes shall, subject to directions of Presbytery at its lawfully convened meetings, be managed by the Foothills Presbytery Council, made up of 17 voting members. (See description of Council in this document for listing of members.)
4. Any vacancies among the elected members shall be filled for the unexpired term by the Presbytery at its next stated meeting.
5. The Council may, without meeting, take any action within its authority when agreed to by all its members in writing.
6. Acting solely under the directions of Presbytery given at a stated meeting or at a special meeting called for the purpose, the Council shall be responsible for the buying, selling and mortgaging of all real property of the Presbytery and the acquiring and conveying to title to such property and, after acquisition, the holding and defending of the title to the same.

The Council, through the Finance and Stewardship Committee, unless otherwise directed by Presbytery, shall see to the retention, investment, and reinvestment of all permanent special funds of Presbytery and shall pay out the income there from and the principal of such funds as Presbytery shall direct. The Council, through the Finance and Stewardship Committee, shall, by its resolutions, establish and may terminate such bank accounts, savings accounts, and investment accounts as it determines to be reasonably required for such purposes and may rent deposit boxes or similar facilities for the protection of its documents and shall designate the person or persons to deposit to and to draw upon said accounts and to have access to said deposit boxes.

7. The seal as impressed at the foot of the by-laws shall be the seal of Foothills Presbytery.

8. These by-laws may be amended at any stated meeting of Presbytery if notice of the proposed amendment shall have been given with notice of the stated meeting. Such notice shall be given upon action of Presbytery's Council.

**APPENDIX II – SEXUAL MISCONDUCT POLICY**  
**(No Changes – Not included in this document)**

**APPENDIX III – CHILD PROTECTION POLICY**  
**(TO BE ADDED WHEN COMPLETED)**

**APPENDIX IV - PERSONNEL MANUEL**  
**(TO BE ADDED WHEN COMPLETED)**

**APPENDIX V**

**Procedure for Nominating Commissioners to General Assembly**

At the meeting at which nominees for Commissioners to the General Assembly are determined, the Nominating Committee shall prepare a slate of nominees.

1. In drawing up its slate of Commissioners to the General Assembly, the names of ministers shall be submitted as follows:
  - a) The Committee shall nominate two ministers as principals and two ministers as alternates to General Assembly. Among the criteria to be taken into account are: time of service in this and other presbyteries; fair representation of male, female and racial members; effective work on a division or committee of Presbytery, Synod or General Assembly. The Committee may also consider special reasons such as the Presbytery's desire to nominate a member as Moderator of the General Assembly, its wish to have an overture from the Presbytery duly supported, its belief that a member is especially qualified to contribute to the debate on issues before the General Assembly, or its knowledge of special circumstances in a member's case which makes it particularly appropriate that she or he be a Commissioner.
  - b) Ordinarily the ministers elected as alternates shall become the principal commissioners at the next General Assembly.
2. In drawing up its slate of Commissioners to the General Assembly, the names of elders shall be submitted as follows:
  - a. The committee shall choose elder nominees from the churches of Presbytery, taking into consideration such criteria as the varieties in the size of the congregation, the involvement of the church in the life and work of Presbytery, and the geographical distribution of churches within Presbytery.
  - b. The committee shall ask the Sessions of two churches to recommend one of their elders to the committee, as well as an alternate, including biographical data and record of church service as part of the

recommendation.

- c. In order to ensure that both men and women are represented in the nominating process, the committee shall be free to make suggestions to the sessions regarding possible candidates.
- d. Presbytery shall elect two principals and two alternates. Ordinarily the alternates shall become the principal commissioners in the following General Assembly. The alternates will attend General Assembly as observers at Presbytery expense.
- e. Those sessions failing to make a recommendation when given the opportunity shall be given another opportunity the following year. A session not presenting a nominee for two consecutive years shall be placed at the bottom of the list for consideration.

3. The Nominating Committee shall not place the name of any person in nomination until it has secured the consent of that person.
4. Notwithstanding the names placed in nomination by this committee, nominations from the floor of Presbytery at the time of any election shall always be in order, provided that the consent of the person nominated has first been secured and a brief biographical sketch prepared for distribution to members of Presbytery.
5. In case any minister or elder elected as a Commissioner finds it necessary to be excused from attendance at the General Assembly, the Moderator shall be empowered to substitute one of the alternate ministers or elders.
6. The Moderator shall designate one of the elected as Chair of the Commissioners. Following the General Assembly, the Commissioners, under the guidance of the Chair, shall prepare a brief report to the Presbytery which shall summarize the work of the Assembly. All commissioners shall report to the Stated Clerk, in writing, certifying their attendance at the General Assembly.